IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS D. HALL
MAY 1 0 2000

GARY RAY BOWLS,

Appellant,

• •

٧.

Case No. **96,732**

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR **DUVAL** COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0271543
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PAGE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Pursuant to the Florida Supreme Court's Administrative Order of July 13, 1997, this brief has been printed in 14-point Times New Roman.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Duval County on December S, 1994, charged the Appellant, Gary Ray Bowles, with one count of first degree murder and one count of robbery with a deadly weapon (I T 3-5). He eventually pled guilty to the murder, and was sentenced to death. This Court affirmed the conviction, but reversed the death sentence and remanded for a new sentencing hearing. Bowles v. State, 716 So.2d 769 (Fla. 1998). On remand, the State and defense filed the following motions, notices or requests relevant to this appeal:

- 1. Motion to Preclude use of homicide convictions as aggravating circumstances based on pleas entered after the defendant original penalty proceeding and sentence of death (1 '1'23-26). Denied. (1 T 27).
 - 2. Defense special penalty phase jury instructions:
 - a. Felony murder (1 T 31). Denied (1 T 32).
 - b. Heinous, atrocious, or cruel (1 T 33). Denied (I 1'34)
 - c. Cold, calculated, and premeditated (1 T 35). Denied (1 T 37)
- d. Defining mitigation and instructing the jury to consider mitigating circumstances (1 T42). Denied (1 T 43).
- c. Mitigating circumstances put forward by the defendant (1 T 44). Denied(1 T 46).

- f. Actions by the defendant after the death of the victim (1 T 50). Denied (1 T 51).
- 3. Motion to preclude use of prior violent felonies as aggravating circumstances(1 T 90). Denied (1 T 96).

Bowles proceeded to the sentencing phase portion of his trial, and the empaneled jury heard evidence of how the murder was done and other evidence to aggravate the murder. Bowles presented his case for mitigation, after which both sides made their arguments concerning the sentence, and the court instructed the jury on the law.

The jury recommended death by a vote of 12-0 (8 T 1079), and the court followed that verdict. In sentencing Bowles to death, it found in aggravation:

- 1. The defendant had a previous conviction of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to some person.
- 2. The capital felony was committed by a person on probation. Merged with the previous conviction aggravator.
 - **3.** The defendant attempted to rob the victim.
- 4. The capital felony was committed for financial gain. Merged with the attempted robbery aggravator.
 - 5. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

6. The murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification

(1 T 100-14)

In mitigation, the court found Bowles:

- 1. Had an abusive childhood and witnessed his mother being abused. Significant weight
 - 2. never had a positive male role model in his life. Some weight.
 - 3. never finished junior high school and little education. Little weight.
 - 4. Cooperation in this and other cases, Little weight.
 - 5. pled guilty. Little weight,
 - 6. Use of intoxicants at the time of the murder. Little weight,
- 7. The circumstances which cause the Defendant to leave home or his circumstances after he left home. No weight.

(1 T 114-18)

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Gary Bowles, 'a homeless alcoholic, met Walter I-linton sometime in the latter part of October or early part of November 1994 at a pier in Jacksonville Reach (6 T 636). Hinton asked the Defendant to help him move some items he had in Georgia to his trailer in Jacksonville, and in return, he would let Bowles live there for a while (6 T 636). He agreed and provided the assistance, and for a few weeks lived with Hinton (6 T 636).

Sometime in the middle part of November, Hinton also let a woman known as Sharon Ann stay with him. The trio seemed to live together well enough until Bowles made some sexual advances on Sharon that Hinton resented (6 T 636). He told the Defendant to leave, and Bowles left the trailer (6 T 636). He was arrested the next day for being drunk, but was released from jail on Monday November 14 (6 T 635, 637). Although mad at Hinton for getting him taken into custody (5 T 568), he made up with him enough that Hinton allowed the Defendant to stay in the trailer until the end of the month (6 T 626,637).

Two days later, Hinton brought home a man named Rick, and the trio smoked some marijuana and drank beer (6 T 626,655). They partied until Rick had to leave

At the time of the murder Rowles was calling himself Timothy Whitfield, and had identification with that name on it (6 T 760).

to catch a train, but even on the way to the station and while in its parking lot, the men drank beer and smoked the weed (6 T 655). After leaving, Hinton and Bowles (who by then was very drunk (7 T 850)) returned to the trailer. Hinton went to sleep, but the Defendant stayed up drinking as much as four "quart Magnum beers." (6 T 637, 655-56)

Something "snapped inside" Bowles, and he left the trailer, picked up a 40 or 50 pound concrete block and returned (6 T 637). He put it on the table for a few minutes then went into Hinton's bedroom, raised the stone above Hinton, and dropped it on his head. The block hit Hinton's face, fracturing it, and stunning **him** (5 T 559, 6 T 637). Bowles strangled Hinton who struggled a little (5 T 554, 6 T 636). He probably became unconscious within 30 seconds (5 T 555). At some point - probably after the victim has lost consciousness (5 T 560) - toilet paper was stuffed down his throat and a rag was put into his mouth (5 T 542, 550). The Defendant then covered the body with a sheet and left, driving the victim's car and wearing his watch. Some other items may have been taken, and Rowles looked for money, but found none (6 T 656-57)

Hinton died from asphyxiation (5 T 550). He had a blood-alcohol level of .06, which was measured four days after his death (5 T 559).

After the death, Rowles picked up a Ginger Moyc, another street person who had known him for a couple of years. During that time, she almost always saw him

either drinking, drunk, or "staggering drunk" regardless of whether it was 7 a.m. or 2 a.m. (5 T 581, 590).

She was sick and needed a place to stay, so they returned to Hinton's trailer and lived there for a couple of days (5 T 580). Twice the defendant bought a pint of vodka (5 T 583, 585). Bowles then stayed at a motel on the beach, and he was arrested about a week after the murder at "Ameri-force" labor pool (5 T 596-98). When questioned, although shaking from alcoholic withdrawal, he admitted killing Hinton (6 T 637-38, 656,662).

Rowles was born in 1962 to a teenage mother (7 T 861). Until she married Rill Fields, and even for a few years afterward, life was OK, and her marriage was good (7 T 868). Standing six feet tall, weighing about 200 pounds, Fields, in time, became "really abusive" to Rowles and his older brother, Frank (7 T 868). He was a cruel disciplinarian, beating the boys with belts, fist, or "whatever he found to use on them." (7T 868) Bowles, who was seven or eight when the beatings started (7 T 870) had bruises on his face, and welts on his legs. Fields would throw him against a wall (7 T 870), and would stop only when he got tired. He "just beat the hell out of them." (7 T 829) When his mother tried to stop her husband, he turned on her (8 1 871)

She eventually divorced him and married Chet Hodges, a very muscular man standing 6'3" and weighing 230 pounds, in 1978. Tfpossible, he was more abusive

than her previous husband, and he put Bowles' mother in the hospital three times (7 T 875).² Chet was also an alcoholic and would drink from sunup until he went to bed, Bowles' mother also drank heavily (7 T 876).

Bowles tried to escape the beatings his stepfathers enjoyed inflicting. Starting when he was eight or nine, or maybe it was 10 or 11, he began drinking beer, sniffing glue and paint, and smoking marijuana (7 T 833, **834**, 872). He also ran away from home (7 T 873). By the time Bowles was 12, he was "uncontrollable." (7 T 889, 891) He had some counseling in school, but he dropped out when he was in the 8th grade (7 T 879-80). He left home when he was 13, after being beaten and rejected by his mother who told him to his face that she preferred her husband to him (7 T 882-83). Indeed, since Bowles was 13 years old, she has had little contact with him (7 T 888), and then usually from jails (7 T 888).

He continued to drink, and in 1982, he was living with his girlfriend (6 T 691). One night, while both of them were drunk, he beat and sexually battered her (6 T 682). He was convicted of aggravated battery and sexual battery, and sent to prison, though neither one could reinember what had happened (6 T 693). In 1991 he ran into another woman he had known, and after a few drinks, and as she was leaving her car,

⁻ On returning from the hospital one time, Chet was there, drinking and beating the kids. Mrs. Gaines went into her bedroom, locked the door, "and took every pill I could find." (7 T 879)

he pushed her down and took some money from her purse (6 T 700). **She** told him she was going to call the police, which she did, and they arrested him a short time later (6 T 700). He was found guilty of strong armed robbery (6 T 697).

In March 1994, Bowles knew and may have lived with a John Roberts in Daytona Beach. One evening they got into an argument over a woman, and during the struggle, the defendant hit him in the back of the head with a lamp and strangled him (6 T 782). Bowles took his belongings, put them in Roberts' car and drove to Missouri where his mother lived (6 T 782).

Two months later, in May, the defendant lived with an Albert Morris in Nassau County. One night, they got into an argument at a bar, made **up**, then started fighting again (6 T 750-51, 757-58). Morris came at Bowles with a knife, trying to stab him (6 T 757), but the defendant took it from him and stabbed him "in his upper body somewhere." (6 T 757) He got a shotgun and shot Morris, and fled in the victim's car, abandoning it sometime later (6 T 758-59).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The people of Florida are extremely reluctant to execute defendants ISSUE I. who have committed first degree murders. Our sentencing scheme is replete with mechanisms designed to ferret out only those who have committed the most aggravated and least mitigated homicides. In contrast to this generally pro-life bias, the law allows a prosecutor to excuse jurors whose views on the death penalty would substantially impair their performance as a juror in following the law. Because jury recommendations play a pivotal role in capital sentencing the law only permits such cause challenges with reluctance. Hence, in this case the prosecutor's deliberate and open use of peremptory challenges to excuse persons who favored the death penalty, but who were not true believers, impermissibly made this jury far more death prone than the law should allow. That is, such people formed a "cognizable group," and as such, the prosecutor could not peremptorily excuse them solely because they lacked the fervor for executing Bowles that he wanted to see.

ISSUE II. At the resentencing, the State introduced two murders Bowles had pled guilty to in the time after his original sentencing hearing. While this Court has adopted a "clean slate rule" that would apparently allow the prosecution to introduce those convictions, this Court should not follow it in this case. That is, the State deliberately created the error in Bowles I, that enabled it to introduce those pleas in

a new sentencing hearing. In short, the State "sandbagged" the two murders, knowing that the character attack in the original sentencing proceeding would likely lead to a death recommendation and sentence. If not, and this Court reversed (as it did) it could have the two convictions it did not have originally to again virtually guarantee a death sentence. This Court has not let defendants benefit from similar type trial tactics, and this Court should not reward the prosecution in this case for intentionally creating error and then benefitting from it.

ISSUE III. Of course, all murders are heinous, atrocious, or cruel. They are not especially so, however, where the victim is either unawarc, or is aware for a brief time, of his or her impending death. In this case, Hinton was attacked while he slept with the 40 pound block. While the blow did not kill him, he was stunned, and if he resisted, it was only feebly so, His subsequent unconsciousness came quickly. Hence the murder was not especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

ISSUE IV. The trial court refused to instruct the jury that in order to find the defendant had committed the murder in an especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel manner, he had to have intended to have killed him that way. While this Court has, in some cases, rejected similar guidance, in others it has clearly said that defendants must have such a mind set in order for that aggravator to apply. In this case, Bowles was so drunk when he killed Hinton that he lacked to required mental state to have qualified

for the **HAC** aggravator. Because that was his theory of defense, he was entitled, as a inatter of law, to an instruction supporting it.

ISSUE V. The court also instructed the jury on the cold, calculated, and premditated aggravator. Even though it used the instructed approved by this Court in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 85 (1994), that guidance was unconstitutionally vague and misleading.

TSSUE VT. The court found that Bowles committed the murder during an attempted robbery and for pecuniary gain (though it merged those aggravators). The State, however, presented insufficient evidence, beyond the mere taking of the victim's car and watch, that those thefts were the doininant motive for killing Hinton.

ISSUE VII. Without question or doubt, Bowles was very drunk on the night he killed Hinton. The trial court, however, gave that fact little weight because he used that "excuse" often when explaining his violent actions to the police. While this Court has given trial courts broad discretion in the weight it gives aggravating and mitigating factors, it should refuse to accept the lower court's evaluation when its reasons for giving it little weight are flawed. In this case, Bowles has been an alcoholic probably since he left home when he was 13 years old. Virtually every witness who knew Bowles said that every time they saw him he was either drinking or drunk. His "use of intoxicants and drugs at the time of the murder" was not a "convenient but poor

excuse." It was a reality of his life, and the trial court erred in dismissing it as either valid mitigation or of light weight.

ISSUE VIII. The trial court gave the instruction this Court approved in <u>Alston v. State</u>, 723 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1998), regarding how the jury was to consider the victim impact evidence presented at the resentencing. That was error because it only confused them, and gave them no guidance regarding how they could use this proof,

ISSUE IX. In sentencing Bowles to death, the trial court considered but rejected the two statutory mental mitigating factors. That was error because the defendant presented sufficient evidence to justify finding them

ISSUE X. Bowles asked the court to instruct the jury on the specific nonstatutory mitigators he had established. The court refused to do so, but it erred in denying that request. While this Court has approved refusing to provide detailed instructions such as Bowles requested here, there is no principled reason for that ruling. With the possibility that the reliability of the jury's recommendation would be greater with such an instruction, this Court should re-examine its prior holdings on this issue, and declare that when a defendant proposes an instruction specifically listing the mitigation that he has proven, the trial court must so instruct the jury,

ISSUE XI. Similarly, Bowles asked the trial court to define "mitigation," but it refused to do so. This Court, in other cases, has approved that course, but it should re-examine its rationale for doing so.

ISSUE XII. The court let a police officer testify about what the internal injuries a doctor had observed of a victim Bowles had beaten and sexually battered in 1982. Allowing that hearsay was inadmissible because the officer was not a "neutral" witness that would have provided the defendant a fair opportunity to rebut what she had said.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

GARY BOWLES' SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO AN IMPARTIAL, JURY AND **HIS** DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO **A** JURY FROM WHICH NO JURORS HAVE BEEN SYSTEMATICALLY REMOVED BY THE **STATE** WERE VIOLATED WHEN THE STATE USED PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES TO REMOVE PROSPECTIVE JURORS WHO, WHILE IN FAVOR OF THE DEATH PENALTY, EXPRESSED SOME RESERVATIONS ABOUT IT.

During voir dire, several prospective members of the jury declared that while they had no scruples against the death penalty, they were, none the less, uneasy about imposing it. Ms. Robertson, for example, was not opposed to the death penalty, but "I consider it a really extremely great responsibility to be chosen to make that decision." (4 T 339) The State peremptorily challenged her, but defense counsel objected: "Your Honor, we would object to the peremptory on the basis of here death scruples. She indicated she was not totally opposed to the death penalty but she had some feelings against the death penalty. She's a death scrupled juror, and she feels it was an extremely great responsibility. And for the same reason the State put forward, we would object to the peremptory challenge." (5 T 444-455) The court denied that objection, as well as similar ones made on other members of the venire who had no problems with the death penalty but who nevertheless expressed some hesitancy in

imposing it (5 T 442-50).³ The State willingly provided the reasons it challenged them. "I guess all those objections regarding the jurors, when he made those objections, so the record is clear, was we struck them because of their dcath beliefs. I guess that's why he was making those objections, just so the record is clear, and the Court already addressed that." (5 T 452)

The issue before this Court, thus becomes whether the State can constitutionally, peremptorily challenge prospective jurors solely because, while not opposed to the dcath penalty, they may have some hesitancy in imposing it. For the reasons presented below, it cannot do so.

First, however, Bowles admits that except for one United States District Court, state and federal courts that have considered this issue have rejected it. <u>United States v. Villarreal</u>, 963 F.2d 725, 729 (5th Cir. 1992); <u>People v. Davis</u>, 794 P.2d 159, 208-09 (Colo. 1990); <u>State v. Wacaser</u>, 794 S.W.2d 190, 196 (Mo. 1990); <u>State v. Seiber</u>, 56 Ohio St.3d 4, 564 N.E.2d 408,419 (1990); <u>Romano v. State</u>, 847 P.2d **368**, 377-78 (Okla. Crim. App. 1993); <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 819 S.W.2d 806, 817-18 (Tex. Crim. App. 1991).

These members of the venire who favored the death penalty but had some reluctance in recommending it were Ms. Keaton, Ms. Salle, Mr. Woods, Ms. Robertson, Ms. Baker, Ms. Ursry, Mr. Cadd, and Ms. Williams (alternate),

In <u>Brown v. Rice</u>, 693 F.Supp. 301 (W.D. NC 1988), the court found a Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment violation when a prosecutor deliberately used his peremptory challenges to eliminate members of the venire who favored imposing a death sentence but were hesitant to some degree in doing so.

In this case, the state went beyond the "Witherspoon-excludables" and used its peremptory challenges to remove every prospective juror who expressed some uncertainty about capital punishment. The state accomplished, through its use of peremptory challenges, what it could not constitutionally do through challenges for cause , i.e., "stack the deck against the prisoner." Witherspoon, 391 U.S. at 523, 105 S.Ct. at 1778.

* * *

[The court then disagreed with Justice O'Connor's concurring opinion denying certiorari in <u>Brown v. United State</u>, 479 **U.S.** 940 (1986)]

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