IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
THOMAS D. HALL
AUG 18 2000
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
BY

GARY RAY BOWLES,

Appellant,

vs.

732
CASE NO. 96,472

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.
_____ /

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A, BUTTEKWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M, FRENCH
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300 Ext. 4583

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Furthermore, the intent to inflict pain is not a necessary element of the HAC aggravator. Even if Bowles did not intend in advance to inflict pain, he certainly was, as the trial court found, "indifferent" to the suffering he caused, and the means and manner in which Hinton's death was brought about justify the HAC

finding. *Brown v. State*, 721 So.2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1998) ("Unlike the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravator, which pertains specifically to the state of mind, intent and motivation of the defendant, the HAC aggravator focuses on the means and manner in which the death is inflicted and the immediate circumstances surrounding the death."); *Guzman v. State*, 721 So.2d 1155, 1160 (Fla. 1998) ("The intention of the killer to inflict pain on the victim is not a necessary element the [HAC] aggravator."); *Mahn v. State*, 714 So.2d 391, 399 (Fla. 1998) (Mahn's contention that HAC did not apply because he did not deliberately inflict pain rejected).

In fact, the strangulation alone would have justified the trial court's finding of the HAC aygravator. As Rowles concedes, this Court's case law establishes that "strangulation creates a prima facie case for this aggravating factor." Initial Brief at .35 (citing *Orme v. State*, 677 So.2d 258 (Fla. 1996)). Bowles attempts to distinguish this precedent by arguing that Hinton was only semiconscious while being strangled, noting that he was asleep when first attacked, that he had consumed alcohol and marijuana before going to bed and that he was stunned when struck on the head by a 40 pound stone. The evidence, however, including Bowles' own statement to police and also the testimony of his witness Richard Smith, indicates that the victim had drunk very little that evening. Smith testified that Hinton did not drink with the other

two because he was driving (7T 849). Bowles told police that Hinton went to bed as soon as they returned from taking Smith to the train station, while he (Bowles) stayed up drinking (6T 637).⁷ Furthermore, the medical examiner testified specifically that Hinton was not rendered unconscious by the blow to the head and would only have been stunned for a second or so. The intensity of the victim's struggle after he was struck in the head belies any suggestion that he was barely conscious during the struggle, and also belies any suggestion that he was strangled into unconsciousness in a matter of just a few seconds.

Although it can never be known just exactly how long it took Bowles to strangle Hinton into unconsciousness, it is clear from the evidence that it took more than the few seconds Bowles argues for, and probably took several minutes, given the intensity of the struggle as shown by the bruises, abrasions and broken ribs the victim suffered during the struggle. This Court has "affirmed a trial court's finding of heinous, atrocious, or cruel under similar circumstances." *Mansfield v. State*, 758 So.2d 636 (Fla. 2000). See, also, *Hildwin v. Dugger*, 727 So.2d 193, 196 (Fla. 1998) ("This Court has consistently upheld the HAC aggravator where a conscious

⁷ Bowles points out in a footnote that Hinton's blood alcohol level was .06 when measured *four days after his death*. Initial Brief at 36, fn. 9. There is no testimony in the record as to what this means, or how accurately such a belated test might indicate blood alcohol level *at the time of death*. Thus, the significance of this finding can only be a matter of speculation.

victim was strangled.”); Robertson v. State, 699 So.2d 1343, 1347 (Fla. 1997) (same).

Walter Hinton was brutally beaten and strangled to death after a violent struggle. This murder was heinous, atrocious and cruel, as the trial court properly found in its thoughtful, thorough and carefully reasoned order.⁸

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DELIVERING THE STANDARD HAC JURY INSTRUCTION RATHER THAN THE PROPOSED INSTRUCTION REQUESTED BY THE DEFENDANT

Bowles contends the trial court erred in rejecting his request to instruct the jury that, in order to establish the HAC aggravator, the State must prove not only that the manner in which the murder was committed caused "great pain," but also that "it was the defendant's intention and desire to kill in that manner." Initial Brief at 38 (citing 1T 33). Bowles concedes that precedent is against him on this issue. Orme v. State, 677 So.2d 258, 263 (Fla. 1996). See also, Brown, Guzman, and Mahn, supra.

The standard HAC instruction given in this case (8R 1065) is the same instruction this Court approved in Hall v. State, 614 So.2d 473, 478 (Fla. 1993). Since that time, this Court has

⁸ Although the trial court's finding seems plainly correct to the State, in an abundance of caution, the State would contend in the alternative that any error in the trial court's HAC finding would be harmless in view of the extensive, powerful aggravation found in addition to HAC.

consistently rejected claims that either the HAC aggravator or our present HAC instruction is constitutionally deficient. Nelson v. State, 748 So.2d 237, 245-46 (Fla. 1999); Walker v. State, 707 So.2d 300, 316 (Fla, 1997); Chandler v. State, 702 So.2d 186, 201 (Fla. 1997). The trial court did not err by giving this instruction in this case, and rejecting Bowles' proposed instruction.

Bowles' contention that the court's instructions created an "irrebuttable presumption" that a strangulation murder is HAC is unsupported by any rational argument. The standard HAC instruction itself, it must be noted, does not even mention strangulation. Nor does it preclude a defendant from arguing his mental state in mitigation. Bowles says that this Court's language in State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973) supports his contention that he should be allowed to present evidence and argument concerning his mental state. The State would note that the instruction given in this case is essentially verbatim to the quoted language of Dixon. Thus, it is difficult to understand why the HAC instruction given in this case would somehow have precluded what the language in Dixon supposedly authorizes. The State does not see how the instruction given in any way restricted either Bowles' presentation of intoxication or other mental health evidence in mitigation, or his argument about these matters.

Bowles also complains about the sufficiency of the trial court's consideration of intoxication in its sentencing order, claiming the court "never mentioned how . . . Bowles' alcohol and drug abuse on the night of the murder specifically affected his mental abilities." Initial Brief at 41. Since this is addressed more directly in Issue VII of Appellant's Brief, the State will defer extended discussion to its response to that issue. Suffice to say here that the court *did* mention how Bowles' alcohol and drug abuse affected his mental abilities on the night of the murder: in the court's considered opinion, Bowles was "minimally affected" (1T 115-16).

No error has been shown here.⁹

ISSUE V

THE STANDARD CCP JURY INSTRUCTION DELIVERED BY
THE COURT WAS NOT ERRONEOUS FOR ANY REASON
URGED ON APPEAL

Bowles contends here that the trial court erred by instructing the jury on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator using the language of *Jackson v. State*, 648 So.2d 85, 95 n. 8 (Fla. 1994) rather than the revised instruction approved by this Court in Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 665 So.2d 21.2 (Fla. 1995). The latter instruction, he contends, was an "attempted

⁹ Any instructional error would be harmless in any event because this murder was HAC by any standard, and also because the case is otherwise highly aggravated.

cure" for a deficiency in the original Jackson instruction, but was "not in place" in this trial.

This issue is utterly meritless.¹⁰ Although the State does not agree that the original proposed instruction in Jackson was in any way constitutionally inadequate, the trial court did not give that instruction, but instead gave the revised standard jury instruction that Bowles now argues the court should have given, as even a cursory examination of the records shows. Compare 1T 1066 with 665 So.2d 213-14. No error has been shown here.¹¹

ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT BOWLES
COMMITTED MURDER DURING THE COURSE OF A
ROBBERY AND FOR PECUNIARY GAIN

Bowles contends the trial court erred in finding that the murder was committed during the commission of or attempt to commit a robbery and for the purpose of pecuniary gain. Although conceding that the evidence shows he took the victim's car and

¹⁰ Bowles also has failed to demonstrate that his present argument has been preserved for appeal. He has not cited to any portion of the trial record where his trial counsel objected to the language of the CCP jury instruction or requested an alternative or supplemental CCP instruction. In fact, trial counsel did request a special CCP instruction (1T 35), but that requested instruction is not, insofar as the State can tell, the one appellate counsel is now arguing should have been given. In any event, the trial court did not err in giving the standard CCP instruction.

Any error would be harmless in any event, because this crime was CCP by any standard and also because it is a highly aggravated murder with or without the CCP aggravator.

watch following the murder, he contends the theft may have been an afterthought rather than the motive for the murder.

It should be noted that the during-the-commission-of-a-robbery aggravator, unlike the pecuniary gain aggravator, does not explicitly require a pecuniary motive. The pecuniary gain aggravator is defined as being present when the "capital felony was committed *for* pecuniary gain." Section 921.141 (f), Fla. Stat. (1999) (emphasis supplied). Thus, by definition, pecuniary gain must be a reason for committing the murder. The during-the-commission-of-a-robbery aggravator, on the other hand, is established by evidence showing simply that the "capital felony was committed *while* the defendant was engaged . . . , in the commission of, or an attempt to commit, . . . any: robbery." Section 921.141 (d), Fla. Stat. (1999). The aggravator on its face merely requires the contemporaneous commission of a robbery or attempted robbery, not a pecuniary motive for the murder. It should be noted that proving a pecuniary motive does not necessarily establish the commission of a separate crime in addition to murder; for example, the defendant might be an heir, or the beneficiary of a life insurance policy, or next in line for a promotion, etc. - matters all perfectly legitimate of themselves; absent a pecuniary motive for the murder, a defendant's mere status as a potential beneficiary cannot be aggravating. On the other hand, proof that a defendant committed murder while he was engaged in the commission

of a robbery or attempted robbery necessarily establishes that he has committed a serious felony in addition to murder. Thus, the murder in the latter case is aggravated not by proof merely of pecuniary gain, but by proof of the commission of an independent serious crime.

Language similar to the so-called felony-murder aggravator is contained in the felony murder statute, Section 782.04 (1)(a)(2), Fla. Stat. (1999), and this language has been consistently interpreted by Florida Courts to mean that a robbery/murder is felony murder so long as the murder and the robbery were part of the same criminal episode. See, e.g., Young v. State, 579 So.2d 721 (Fla. 1991); Roberts v. State, 510 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1987). Thus, the crime of felony murder may be established without demonstrating that the robbery was the motive for the murder, in contrast with the pecuniary gain aggravator, which requires proof of a pecuniary motive. See, e.g., Scull v. State, 533 So.2d 1137 (Fla. 1988) (although property could have been taken as an afterthought, thus precluding application of the pecuniary gain factor, Scull's robbery conviction was left intact).

The crime of robbery is defined as the taking of money or property, "when in the course of the taking there is the use of force, violence, assault, or putting in fear." Section 812.13 (1), Fla. Stat, (1999). The phrase "in the course of the taking" is further defined to include any act that "occurs either prior to,

contemporaneous with, or subsequent to the taking of the property . . . if it and the act of taking constitute a continuous series of acts or events." Section 812.13 (3) (b), Fla. Stat. (1999).

In fact, the standard penalty-phase jury instructions delivered to the jury in this case, concerning the commission-of-a-robbery aggravator, incorporated these very principles (8T1063-64).

Regardless of Bowles' motive for committing murder, then, it is the State's contention that the in-the-commission-of-a-robbery aggravator applies whether or not the theft was an afterthought, since the theft was accomplished as the result of Bowles' having used deadly force against the owner of the property. The pecuniary-gain cases cited by Bowles in his brief do not compel a contrary conclusion.

Should this Court disagree, however, the aggravator still was proven, because the trial court found, and the record supports the finding, that Bowles *did* have a pecuniary motive for committing murder, even if that pecuniary motive may not have been his sole motive. *Finney v. State*, 660 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1995) (pecuniary gain aggravator applies so long as the murder was motivated, at least in part, by desire for pecuniary gain). As the trial court noted, Bowles' own statements establish his pecuniary motive. Agent Reagan testified:

Q. Did he talk about in his mind, the defendant, in terms of when he killed the victim in terms of his attempt to get money?

A. Yes, he wanted to get money from Mr. Hinton so he could flee the - leave the scene.

(6T 656). Bowles argues, however, that he did not leave the scene and there is no evidence he took "anything, including Hinton's credit cards from the trailer." Initial Brief at 54. However, Bowles definitely had the victim's watch and car, and neither of those items were at the victim's trailer when the victim's body was discovered. Thus, it is incorrect to say there is no evidence that Bowles took "anything." Furthermore, there was no evidence that Hinton had any credit cards to take (6T 641), and the defendant himself explained that he couldn't leave town because he discovered the victim had no money (6T 656).¹² However disappointed Bowles ultimately may have been with his "take" in this case, the fact remains that the trial court was justified in concluding that Bowles committed murder for the purpose of pecuniary gain. Shellito v. State, 701 So.2d 837 (Fla. 1997) (pecuniary gain factor properly found even though victim had no money where facts reflect that defendant initiated the criminal episode for pecuniary gain); Porter v. State, 429 So.2d 293, 296 (Fla. 1983) (pecuniary gain

¹² It bears noting that during two previous murders, Bowles had stolen the victim's car and money and/or credit cards. On one occasion, he had used these proceeds to leave the state; on the other, Bowles apparently abandoned the victim's car after unsuccessfully attempting to use the victim's credit card at a Wal-Mart.

properly found even though defendant threw away property he stole from murder victims); Fitzpatrick v. State, 437 So.2d 1072, 1078 (Fla. 1983) (pecuniary gain may be found even though "the robbery was never completed so long as there was an attempt").

The trial court did not err in rejecting Bowles' contention that the theft was an afterthought and not a motive for the murder, or in finding that the murder was committed during a robbery or attempted robbery and for pecuniary gain.¹³

ISSUES VII AND IX

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS
CONSIDERATION OF BOWLES' DRUG AND ALCOHOL USE
THE NIGHT OF THE MURDER OR OF THE ABUSE BOWLES
SUFFERED AS A CHILD, NOR IN REJECTING THE TWO
STATUTORY MENTAL MITIGATORS PROPOSED BY THE
DEFENDANT

The State has combined its responsive argument to Bowles' seventh and ninth issues, as they are interrelated, and to a large extent the same evidence is cited by Bowles in his argument as to both of these issues.

Before addressing the primary issue of the extent to which Bowles' drinking and drugging should have been found mitigating, the State would note that, although the caption to Bowles' seventh issue states that the trial court gave "little or no weight" to evidence that Bowles was "severely abused as a child," Initial

¹³ Again, although it seems clear to the State that there was no error here, the State would argue, in the alternative, that any error in finding robbery and/or pecuniary gain would be harmless in this extremely aggravated murder case.

Brief at 56, in fact the trial court gave "significant" weight to "the evidence regarding the Defendant's abusive childhood and the severe abuse endured by his mother which he witnessed as a child" (1T 117).

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